

AGHS Australian Garden History Select Bibliography Updated April 2024 We learn about gardens and garden history through our own horticultural efforts, attending talks and exhibitions, going on garden visits, tours and, attending open gardens. We also learn through reading.

A select list of publications about Australian gardens and their history is outlined below. These publications are about the process of how Australian gardens developed over time and include accounts of notable gardens.. Overseas authors, garden designers and examples are only included because of their influence on Australian gardens and gardeners. Australian authors or designers who write about overseas gardens/gardening are likewise not included. The list does not include more general plant growing and garden design manuals.

Some publications can be found online, others only in libraries. The National Library of Australia Trove search tool can be useful to find items in public, university and State libraries.

**The Australian Garden History Society's journal** *Australian Garden History,* is available on-line, free to AGHS members, with all copies older than two years free to the general public. You can search journal articles on the website, including by topic (e.g.: grottoes; or by garden, e.g. Yaralla)

The Biodiversity Library has some *Australian Garden History* journals online (and a cornucopia of others). It allows you to search (not solely within *Australian Garden History*). It's possible to narrow the search by geography or years.

https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/bibliography/125516#/summary

## Other AGHS publications include:

- Anne Latreille, Kindred spirits: a botanical correspondence, letters by Jean Galbraith, drawings by Joan Law-Smith, AGHS, South Yarra, Vic, 1999
- Max Bourke & Colleen Morris (eds), Studies in Australian Garden History, Vol 1, AGHS, Melbourne, 2003
- Max Bourke & Colleen Morris (eds), Studies in Australian Garden History, Vol 2, AGHS, Melbourne, 2006
- Eliot Cooper et al, Recording Gardens preparing for conservation or restoration, AGHS, 2018
- John Dwyer & Jan Schapper (eds), Studies in Australian Garden History, Vol 3, AGHS, Melbourne, 2012

John Dwyer, Weeding Between the Lines. An anthology of essays about our relationship with nature, AGHS, South Yarra, 2023

And 18 assorted garden history booklets describing individual gardens in several states/territories.

All are available on-line at the AGHS website under the shop tab.

Contact the AGHS Office at info@gardenhistorysociety.org.au

## AGHS YouTube Channel

The AGHS YouTube Channel offers various lectures to support learning about Australian garden history. Search for 'Australian garden history'...

https://www.youtube.com/playlist?list=UUkfXwbzarKFTF4DNv84G2kw

# Contents

# Page

1.0 General Australian garden history (with some NZ references)	4
2.0 Significant gardens by state and territory	7
2.1 ACT gardens	7
2.2 NSW gardens	7
2.3 Queensland gardens	8
2.4 South Australian gardens	
2.5 Tasmanian gardens	
2.6 Victorian gardens	
2.7 Western Australian gardens	10
3.0 Australian garden and landscaper designers	11
3.1 Edna Walling	11
3.2 Other designers/gardeners	11
4.0 Australian botanic gardens and herbaria	13
5.0 Australian public parks and plantings	14
6.0 Australian horticultural societies	15
7.0 Australian botanical illustration, flora and publishing	16
8.0 Plant hunters, explorers and plant transportation	18
9.0 Overseas designers and gardens significantly influencing Australian garden history	19
10.0 Cultural landscapes	20
11.0 Websites and sources for historic plant use in gardens	21

# 1.0 General Australian garden history (with some NZ references)

- William Adamson, The Australian gardener: an epitome of horticulture for the Colony of Victoria, 1863 (digitised in the NLA)
- Richard Aitken & Michael Looker (eds), The Oxford Companion to Australian Gardens, Oxford University Press Australia, Melbourne, in association with the AGHS (many members wrote entries), 2002
- Richard Aitken, Gardenesque: A Celebration of Australian Gardening, Melbourne University Publishing, 2005
- **Richard Aitken**, *The Garden of Ideas: Four Centuries of Australian Style*, Melbourne University Publishing, 2012
- **Richard Aitken**, *Cultivating modernism, reading the modern garden 1917-71*, The Miegunyah Press/University of Melbourne Library, Carlton, Victoria, 2013
- Richard Aitken, Planting Dreams: Shaping Australian Gardens, NewSouth Publishing, 2016

Mary Barnard, The New Garden Heritage of New Zealand, Phoenix Press, Wellington, 1990

- Judith Baskin & Trisha Dixon, Australia's timeless gardens, National Library of Australia, Canberra, 1996
- **Beatrice Bligh**, *Cherish the earth: the story of gardening in Australia*, Ure Smith in association with The National Trust of Australia, Sydney, 1973
- Mrs Rolf Boldrewood, The Flower Garden in Australia, 1893 (Digitised in the NLA)
- Matthew Bradbury, A History of the Garden in New Zealand, Penguin Books (NZ), Auckland, 1995
- **Derelie Cherry**, *Alexander Macleay: from Scotland to Sydney*, Paradise Publishers, Kulnura, NSW, 2012
- **Context (people, place, heritage) in collaboration with Heritage Matters P/L,** A National Review of Inventories of Historic Gardens, Trees & Landscapes, report for AGHS, 2012
- Victor Crittenden, Daniel Bunce, 1836 catalogue of seeds and plants, indigenous and exotic cultivated and on sale at Denmark Hill Nursery, New town Road, Hobart town, Facsimile reprint, Mulini Press, Canberra, 1994
- Victor Crittenden, The front garden: the story of the cottage garden in Australia, Mulini Press, Canberra 1979
- Victor Crittenden, A shrub in the landscape of fame: Thomas Shepherd, Australian landscape gardener and nurseryman, Mulini Press, Cook ACT, 1992
- Victor Crittenden, Yesterday's Gardens a history and bibliography of Australian Gardening Books, Mulini Press, Canberra, 2002

Peter Cuffley, Cottage Gardens in Australia, Five Mile Press Pty Ltd, 1997

- Peter Cuffley & Cas Middlemis, Hung out to Dry: Gilbert Tayne's classic Australian clothes hoist, Cas Middlemis, Netherby, SA, 2009
- Charles Daley, Baron Sir Ferdinand von Mueller, KCMG, PRS, FRS, Botanist Explorer and Geographer, HJ Green, Melbourne, 1924
- **Bee Dawson,** *A History of Gardening in New Zealand*, Godwit Books, Random House NZ, Auckland, 2010

- **Eric Dunlop,** *The Story of the Dunedin Botanic Garden New Zealand's first*, Friends of the Dunedin Botanic Garden Inc, 2002
- Edward Duyker, Nature's argonaut: Daniel Solander 1733-1782: naturalist and voyager with Cook and Banks, The Miegunyah Press, Carlton, Victoria, 1998
- John Dwyer, Weeds, plants and people, PenFolk Publishing, Melbourne, 2016
- **Garth Falconer,** Harry Turbott New Zealand's first Landscape Architect, Blue Acres Publishing, 2020
- **Paul Fox,** *Clearings, Six Colonial Gardeners and Their Landscapes*, Miegunyah Press, Melbourne University Publishing, Carlton, Victoria, 2004/5
- Andrea Gaynor, Harvest of the Suburbs, an environmental history of growing food in Australian cities, University of Western Australia Press, Crawley, 2006
- **Tony Hall**, *The Life and Death of the Australian Backyard*, CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood, Victoria, 2010
- Thistle Y. Harris, Wild Flowers of Australia, Angus & Robertson, Sydney, 1949
- **Thistle Y. Harris**, Australian plants for the garden: a handbook on the cultivation of Australian trees, shrubs, other flowering plants and ferns, Angus & Robertson, Sydney, 1953
- Heritage South Australia, Gardens in South Australia 1840-1940, Guidelines for Design and Conservation, Department of Environment and Natural Resources, City of Adelaide, 1998, online
- Marie Hitchcock, A Celebration of Wattle: Australia's national floral emblem, Rosenberg, Dural, NSW, 2012
- Katie Holmes, Susan K Martin & Kylie Mirmohamadi, Reading the Garden the settlement of Australia, Melbourne University Press, 2008
- Katie Holmes, Between the Leaves: stories of Australian women, writing and gardens, UWA Publishing, Crawley, WA, 2011
- David Jacques & Jan Woudstra, Landscape Modernism Renounced: the career of Christopher Tunnard (1910-1979), Routledge, London & New York, 2009
- **Rebecca Jones**, *Green Harvest, a history of organic farming and gardening in Australia*, CSIRO Publishing, Collingwood, Victoria, 2010
- **Jones, P**, *Planting c1850-1900: a guide to the restoration, conservation and rehabilitation of early style Australian gardens and man-made landscapes.* Australian Council of National Trusts and National Trust of Victoria, Melbourne, 1982
- Holly Kerr Forsyth, *The Australian Country Women's Garden*, Random House Australia, Milson's Point, 1998
- Holly Kerr Forsyth, Remembered Gardens Eight Women and their visions of an Australian landscape, The Miegunyah Press, Carlton, Victoria, 2006
- Ken Lamb, Gosford Edogawa Commemorative Garden, Japanese Gardens in Australia, Imperial Gardens Landscape Pty Limited, 2020
- Anne Latreille, Garden of a lifetime: Dame Elisabeth Murdoch at Cruden Farm, Pan Macmillan Australia, Sydney, 2007

Bill Laws, A History of the Garden in Fifty Tools, Allen & Unwin, St Leonards, 2014

Peter Macinnis, The Lawn - a Social History, Pier 9 (Murdoch Books), 2009

McKenzie, V (ed), The scent of gum leaves: early Australian gardens. Centennial Publications, Chatswood, NSW, 1986 Matt Morris, Common Ground – Garden histories of Aoteoroa, Otago University Press, 2020

- Elizabeth Mossop, Contemporary Australian Landscape Design, BT Latitude, West Ryde, NSW, 2006
- New Zealand Institute of Landscape Architects Tuia Pito Ora, Tuia Pito Ora He Whakaahua 1972-2002 – 50 years, NZILA Tuia Pito Inc., 2022
- Tim North, Garden Cuttings Reflections from an Australian Gardener, New Holland Publishers, Sydney, 1999
- **Trevor Nottle**, *The cottage garden revived, attitudes & plants essential for nineteenth century gardens*, Kangaroo Press, Sydney, 1984

Trevor Nottle, Old Fashioned Gardens, Kangaroo Press, Kenthurst, 1992

- **Trevor Nottle**, *Endless pleasure: exploring and collecting among the byways of gardens and gardening*, Wakefield Press, Mile End, South Australia, 2015
- Andrew Saniga, Making Landscape Architecture in Australia, NewSouth Publishing Sydney, 2012
- Shepherd & Co., Darling Nursery, Sydney, Special list of new plants, new fruit trees and garden seeds, Shepherd & Co, 1873 (digitised in the NLA)
- **Thomas Shepherd**, *Landscape gardening in Australia, Thomas Shepherd*, Mulini Press, Canberra, 2006
- Winsome Shepherd & Walter Cook, The Botanic Garden Wellington a New Zealand history 1840 1987, Millwood Press, 1988

**Mrs Arthur Tuckett**, *A year in my garden*, 1905 (digitised in the NLA)

- Howard Tanner & Jane Begg, The Great Gardens of Australia, Macmillan, South Melbourne, 1976
- **Howard Tanner,** *Converting the wilderness: The Art of Gardening in Colonial Australia*, Australian Gallery Directors Council, Sydney, 1979
- Howard Tanner, Towards an Australian Garden, Valadon Publishing, Woollahra, 1983
- Peter Timms, The Nature of Gardens, Allen & Unwin, St Leonards, 1999
- **Peter Timms**, *Australia's Quarter Acre the story of the ordinary suburban garden*, The Miegunyah Press, Carlton, Victoria, 2006
- **Paul Tritenbach,** Botanic Gardens and Parks in New Zealand an illustrated record, Excellence Press, 1987

Anne Vale, Influential Australian garden people: their stories, Heriscapes, 2016

- **Georgina Whitehead**, *Planting the Nation*, Bloomings Books, Australian Garden History Society, Hawthorn, 2001
- A.P. Winzenried, Green Grows Our Garden: A Centenary History of Horticultural Education at Burnley, Hyland House, South Yarra, 1991

Handbook of garden and greenhouse culture in Tasmania, 1870 (digitised in the NLA)

# 2.0 Significant gardens by state and territory

## 2.1 ACT gardens

- Rodney Garnett & Danielle Hyndes (eds), The Heritage of the Australian Capital Territory, National Trust of Australia (ACT), Australian Institute of Architects, Commonwealth of Australia (Australian Heritage Commission, 1992
- John Gray, Roses, tennis and democracy: the story of the Old Parliament House Gardens, Canberra, Australian Government National Capital Authority, 2014
- National Arboretum Canberra, National Arboretum Canberra, publication #11/0144, ACT Government, 2011

National Arboretum Canberra / Linda Muldoon (compiler and editor), The Arboretum Book – Forests of the National Arboretum Canberra, Friends of the National Arboretum, 2014

## 2.2 NSW gardens

- James Broadbent, Survey of Gardens in New South Wales, report for the National Trust of Australia NSW, 1981
- Jacqui Cameron, Beyond the garden gate: private gardens of the Southern Highlands, Thames & Hudson, Port Melbourne, 2018
- Jane Cavanough, Anthea Prell & Tim North, A Fine Extensive Pleasure Ground Gardens of the Southern Highlands, New South Wales, 1828-1988, Australian Garden Journal, Bowral, NWS, 1988
- Aedeen Cremin & Julie Campbell, A garden history of Yass town, Yass Books, Yass NSW, 2021
- Victor Crittenden & Arthur Bennett, An autumn visit: historic gardens in Sydney and the Blue Mountains, Mulini Press, Canberra, 1982
- Alison Halliday & Joanne Hambrett, A Passion for Place: gardens of the Blue Mountains, Bloomings Books, Melbourne, 2010
- Janet Hawley, Wendy Whiteley and the Secret Garden, Penguin Random House Australia, Camberwell, 2015
- Christina Laidley Kennedy, Horse Island, Zabriskie Books, Watsons Bay NSW, 2016

Colleen Morris, Lost Gardens of Sydney, Historic Houses Trust of NSW, Glebe, 2009

- **Orange City Council,** Orange Significant Landscapes documenting the landscape of Orange, NSW, online, wordpress.com
- Gretchen Poiner & Sybil Jack (eds), Gardens of History and Imagination: Growing New South Wales, Sydney University Press, 2017
- Ann Toy & Robert Griffin, Government House Sydney, Historic Houses Trust of NSW, Sydney, 2011
- Keira Quinn Lockyer, Japanese garden Cowra: the centre of Japanese culture in Australia, Japanese garden and cultural centre, 1994

## 2.3 Queensland gardens

- **Catherine Brouwer, Susan Hill & Judith Nissen**, Heritage gardens in Queensland: a survey of Queensland's parks, gardens, trees and other designed landscapes, report report for AGHS, 2013
- Kay Cohen & Margaret Cook, Heritage Trails of the Great South East, Queensland Environmental Protection Agency, 2001

Trevor & Mary Dickinson, Garden Styles for Brisbane and the Sub-tropics, Darra, 1993

- **Cooke, Glenn (ed),** *Queensland Review, volume 10, Issue 2: Special Issue Tropical Pleasures: A Focus on Queensland Gardens,* papers of the 24th AGHS conference Brisbane July 2003
- **Cooke, Glenn (ed),** *Queensland Review, volume 19, Issue 1: Special Issue Its all about the Mary – a Garden History of Maryborough*, papers of the 32nd AGHS conference Brisbane August 2011
- John Elliott, Ju raku en: celebrating 25 years of Toowoomba's Japanese garden, Ellipsis Media, Toowoomba, Qld, 2014
- Jo Hirschfeld, Landscaping Garden Design for Brisbane and Sub-Tropics', Published by author, 1987

Sarah Seeberg (ed), Gardens of Buderim, Buderim Garden Club Inc, 2017

Jeannie Sim & Jan Seto, Inventory of historic cultural landscapes in Queensland, AGHS, 1996.

Jean Sim, Designed Landscapes in Queensland, 1859-1939: experimentation - adaptation – innovation, PhD thesis, Queensland University of Technology, 1999

Jean Sim, *Climate and Garden Design in Queensland,* in Childs I & Hudson B. (Eds), Queensland Geographical Perspectives, Royal Geographical Society of Queensland, 2006

Jeannie Sim, 'Cultivation', in Queensland Historical Atlas, 2010

#### 2.4 South Australian gardens

**R. O. Beames & J.A.E. Whitehill,** Some Historic Gardens in South Australia, the National Trust of Australia (South Australia) & Adelaide Botanic Gardens, 1981

Angela Heutzenroeder, Barossa Gardens: a history, Angela Heuzenroeder, 2007

- Janet Kentish (ed) & Jill Eckermann, Early Homestead Gardens of the South-east of South Australia, Celebration South East Series, vol. 10, South East Book Promotions, 1999
- Christine McCabe, Adelaide Hills Gardens, Thames & Hudson (Australia) Pty Ltd, Fisherman's Bend, 2020

Robert F. G. Swinbourne (ed Merilyn Kuchel), Gardens Lost, AGHS, 2006

#### 2.5 Tasmanian gardens

Richard Allen & Kimbal Baker, Great Properties of Tasmania, Miegunyah Press, Carlton, Victoria, 2021

Ann Cripps, Gardeners, Plant Collectors, Friends – Hobart Town and Beyond, Fullers Publishing, Hobart, 2022

- Liz Francis, Gorgeous gardens: way down south, Forty Degrees South Publishing, Hobart, 2011
- Liz Francis, Gorgeous gardens of Tasmania an island odyssey, Forty South Publishing, Hobart, 2013
- Karen Hall & Peter Cooper, Wychwood: the making of one of the world's most magical gardens, Murdoch Books, Crows Nest, NSW
- P McFie, Colonial Gardens of Port Arthur, an Archival Survey, report for the Port Arthur Conservation and Development Project, National Parks and Wildlife Service, Tasmania, 1983
- Jennifer Pringle-Jones & Ray Joyce, Tasmania's Heritage an enduring legacy, St. David's Park Publishing, 1991

Phyl Frazer Simons, Historic Tasmanian gardens, Mulini Press, Canberra, 1987

Malcolm Ward, Maureen Martin Ferris, & Tully Brookes, Houses and Estates of Old Glamorgan, Glamorgan Spring Bay Historical Society Inc., 2017

## 2.6 Victorian gardens

- Richard Aitken, The Garden State: Inside Victoria's Private Gardens, Thames & Hudson (Australia), 2020
- **Richard Allen & Kimbal Baker,** Great Properties of Country Victoria the Western District's golden age, The Miegunyah Press, Carlton, Victoria, 2015

Paul Bangay, Stonefields by the seasons, Penguin Random House, Australia, 2020

- Brookes, M. & Barley, R. Plants listed in nursery catalogues in Victoria 1855-1889. Ornamental Plant Collections Association, South Yarra, 1992
- John Forster, Victorian Picturesque: the Colonial Gardens of William Sangster, University of Melbourne history monographs, no3, 1989.

Kornelia Freeman & Ulo Pukk, Parks & gardens of Melbourne, Melbourne Books, 2015

- Lesley Harding & Kenfra Morgan, Sunday's Garden: growing Heide, The Miegunyah Press in association with the Heide Museum of Modern Art and the State Library of Victoria, Carlton, Vic, 2012
- **George Jones,** Growing together a gardening history of Geelong extending to Colac and Camperdown, George Samuel Jones, 1984
- Sarah Mirams, Darebin Parklands: escaping the claws of the machine, Melbourne Books, Melbourne, 2011
- Michael Morrison & Lisa Clausen, *The Cruden Farm Garden Diaries*, Penguin Random House Australia, Camberwell, 2017
- **Rosemary Simpson,** *Rosemary's Gardening Life*, Beer Barrel Publishing (Klering P/L), 2022 (profiles Banyule, Heidelberg and Lubra (later Banksia) Bend, Yarra Valley)
- **Mandy Stroebel,** *Gardens of the Goldfields: a central Victorian sojourn*, Australian Scholarly Publishing, North Melbourne, 2010
- Michael Taffe, Exploring Ballarat's Garden Heritage, Hymettus Cottage Garden and Museum, 1999
- Anne Vale, *The Garden at Dalvui*, Australian Garden History Society (Victorian Branch) South Yarra, Vic, 2012

- Anne Vale, Gardens of the National Trust of Australia (Victoria), National Trust of Australia, (Victoria), 2018
- Peter Watts, *Historic gardens of Victoria: a reconnaissance* from a report of the National Trust of Australia (Victoria), Oxford University Press, Melbourne, 1983
- The AGHS Website hosts pictorial descriptions of Mont Park, Goronga, Wombat Park and Belmont.

### 2.7 Western Australian gardens

Gillian Lilleyman, A Garden on the Margaret: the path to Old Bridge House, The Author, Claremont, WA, 2011

Oline Richards, Historic gardens study (WA), Final report, National Trust (WA), 1980

**George Seddon, & Gillian Lilleyman**, A Landscape For Learning, A History of the grounds of the University of Western Australia, UWA press, 2006

- John Viska, A Guide to Conserving and Interpreting Gardens in Western Australia, AGHS and Lottery West, 2007
- John Viska & Lisa Williams, *Historic Gardens of Perth, European settlement to Modernism*, AGHS WA branch, Perth, 2023

The AGHS website also hosts a list of Australia's remarkable gardens across all states.

# 3.0 Australian garden and landscaper designers

## 3.1 Edna Walling

Edna Walling, *Gardens in Australia: their design and care*, facsimile edition, Bloomings Books, Hawthorn, 1999

Edna Walling, A Gardener's Log, Penguin Books Australia, Camberwell, 2003

- Trisha Dixon & Jennie Churchill, *Gardens in time: in the footsteps of Edna Walling*, Angus & Robertson, North Ryde NSW, 1988
- **Trisha Dixon & Jennie Churchill**, *The Vision of Edna Walling: garden plans 1920-1951*, Bloomings Books, Hawthorn, 1998
- Sarah Hardy, The unusual life of Edna Walling, Allen & Unwin, Sydney, 2005
- Peter Watts, The Gardens of Edna Walling, National Trust of Australia (Victoria) Melbourne, 1981

Peter Watts, Edna Walling and her gardens, Florilegium, Sydney, 1991

## 3.2 Other designers/gardeners

Paul Bangay, Paul Bangay's Garden Design Handbook, Penguin Random House Australia, Camberwell, 2008

Fiona Brockhoff, With Nature, Angus & Robertson, 2022

- Harriet Edquist, *Pioneers of Modernism the Arts and Crafts Movement in Australia*, The Miegunyah Press, Carlton, Victoria, 2008
- **Meredith Fletcher**, *Jean Galbraith: writer in a valley*, Monash University Publishing, Clayton, Vic, 2014
- **Gordon Ford with Gwen Ford,** *Gordon Ford: the natural Australian garden*, Bloomings Books, 1999
- **Paul Fox**, *Clearings: six colonial gardeners and their landscapes*, The Miegunyah Press, Carlton, Vic, 2004
- T. R. Garnett, The evolution of a gardener: and the making of St. Erth, Hill of Content, Melbourne, 1993

Lionel Gilbert, The Little Giant – the life and work of Joseph Henry Maiden, 1859-1925, Kardoorair Press in association with the Royal Botanic Gardens, Sydney 2001

- Peter Harrison with Robert Freestone (ed), Walter Burley Griffin Landscape Architect, National Library of Australia, 1995
- Phillip Johnson, Connected: Phillip Johnson's Sustainable Landscapes, Murdoch Books, Crows Nest, NSW, 2014
- Annemarie Kiely, Paul Bangay, Earl Carter & Simon Griffith, Stuart Rattle's Musk Farm, Lantern/Penguin Group (Australia), Melbourne, 2014
- Anne Latreille, Garden voices: Australian designers their stories, Bloomings Books, Melbourne, 2013
- Gini Lee & SueAnne Ware (eds), Taylor Cullity Lethlean making sense of landscape, Taylor Cullity Lethlean, 2013

Andrew Lemon, The master gardener: TR Garnett of Marlborough College, Geelong Grammar School, the Age and The Garden of St Erth, Hardie Grant Books, Richmond Vic, 2018

- **Tempe Macgowan**, *Transforming Uncommon Ground: the gardens of Vladimir Sitta*, Bloomings Books, Melbourne, 2009
- Betty Maloney & Jean Walker, Designing Australian bush gardens, Castle books, Sydney, 1966

Betty Maloney & Jean Walter, More about bush gardens, Reed, Terrey Hills, NSW, 1975

Chris Pearson, Australian landscape designers, Are Media, Belle, Australia, 2019

Andrew Pfeiffer, Australian garden design – in search of an Australian style, Macmillan, 1985

- **R.T.M. Prescott**, *W.R. Guilfoyle, 1840-1912: the master of landscaping*, Oxford University Press, Melbourne, 1974
- Helen Proudfoot, Gardens in bloom: Jocelyn Brown and her Sydney gardens of the '30s and '40s, Kangaroo Press, Sydney, 1989
- Richard Ratcliffe, Australia's Master Gardener: Paul Sorensen and his gardens, Kangaroo Press, Sydney, 1990

Ellis Stones, Australian Garden Design, Macmillan, 1971

- **Meredith Walker**, *Building for Nature Walter Burley Griffin and Castlecrag*, the Walter Burley Griffin Society of Australia, 1994
- Anne Watson (ed), Visionaries in Suburbia: Griffin Houses in the Sydney landscape, the Walter Burley Griffin Society of Australia, 2015

Glen Wilson, Landscaping with Australian Plants, 1975

# 4.0 Australian botanic gardens and herbaria

- **Richard Aitken**, *Seeds of Change: an illustrated history of Adelaide Botanic Garden*, Bloomings Books / Board of the Botanic Gardens and State Herbarium, 2006
- Brisbane Botanic Gardens, Report on the Brisbane Botanic Garden, 1878-79 (digitised in the NLA)
- **Net Brennan & Natalie Tapson**, *The Gardens celebrating Tasmania's botanical treasure 1818-2018*, (Tasmanian) Department of Primary Industries, Parks, Water and Environment, Hobart, 2017
- Jennie Churchill (ed), The Royal Botanic Garden Sydney: the first 200 years, Halstead Press, Ultimo NSW, 2015
- **Sophie Cunningham & Peter Wilmoth**, *Wonder: 175 years of the Royal Botanic Gardens*, Hardie Grant, South Yarra, Victoria, 2021
- Friends of the Ballarat Botanic Gardens Inc, An Eden of Loveliness, Ballarat Botanical Gardens by Lake Wendouree: a pictorial history, FoBBGI, Ballarat, Vic, 2012
- Lionel Gilbert, The Royal Botanic Gardens, Sydney: a history 1816-1986 Oxford University Press, Melbourne, 1986
- **Tony Kanellos (ed),** *Out of the past: views of the Adelaide Botanic Garden*, Board of the Botanic Gardens and State Herbarium (Adelaide), 2014
- **Carolyn Landon,** Of Friends & Gardens, A history of the Cranbourne Friends of Royal Botanic Gardens Victoria, Hardie Grant, 2022
- Leslie Lockwood, Jan Wilson & Murray Fagg, Botanic Gardens of Australia a guide to 80 gardens, New Holland, 2001
- **Colleen Morris**, *Florilegium: the Royal Botanic Gardens Sydney Celebrating 200 Years*, Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew Publishing, Richmond UK, 2018
- Diana Sawyer, Queenscliff: the Botanic Gardens story, Queenscliff Historical Museum, Queenscliffe, 2019
- **Max Lamshed**, *The Botanic Garden, Adelaide, SA: centenary volume 1855-1955: history, guides, and catalogue of plants*, KM Stevenson Govt Printer Adelaide, 1955
- **Helen Paatsch**, For the pleasure of the people: a history of 150 years of the Colac Botanic gardens, Friends of the Botanic Gardens, 2015
- **Gwen Pascoe**, 'Long Views & Short Vistas': Victoria's nineteenth-century public botanic gardens, Australian Scholarly Publishing, 2012
- **Pauline Payne,** The Diplomatic Gardener: Richard Schomburgk: explorer and Botanic Garden director, Jeffcott Press, (Adelaide Bot.Gdn.), 2007
- **Ian Rogers**, Kangaroo grasslands to Geelong Botanic Gardens and Eastern Park: a chronological pictorial history Bookbound Publishing, 2018
- **Roger Underwood**, *A Botanical Journey: the story of the Perth Herbarium*, Department of Environment and Conservation, Perth, 2011
- **Royal Historical Society of Victoria** *Melbourne's Pride and Glory: 150 Years at the Royal Botanic Gardens*, Victorian Historical Journal, Royal Historical Society of Victoria 1996

## 5.0 Australian public parks and plantings

- Helen Armstrong, Sydney Street Trees a survey, UNSW School of Landscape Architecture, 1981
- Helen Armstrong, Street and Roadside planting in NSW, UNSW School of Landscape Architecture, 1986
- Paul Ashton & Kate Blackmore, People's Park, Centennial Park A History, University of NSW Press/Halstead Press, Broadway, 2014
- **City of Melbourne**, *Melbourne's Parks & Gardens*, Melbourne City Council, n.d. (profiles 19 public parks)
- **Robert Evans**, *King Edward Park, Newcastle, NSW a history*, Friends of King Edward Park, Mayfield (Newcastle) 2016
- Kornelia Freeman & Ulo Pukk, Parks & gardens of Melbourne, Melbourne Books, 2015

John Gray, The Glebe Park Story, Royal Australian Institute of Parks & Recreation, ACT Region, 1989

**John Gray**, A Park for a National: the story of Commonwealth Park in Australia's National Capital, Royal Australian Institute of Parks & Recreation, ACT Region, 1996

- **Spencer Harvey,** *The Story of Machattie Park and the people who worked there*, Bathurst and District Historical Society, 2006
- **Donald Leslie Johnson,** *Anticipating Municipal Parks London to Adelaide to Garden City*, Wakefield Press, 2013

Warwick Mayne-Wilson, *Town Parks of New South Wales: past, present and future*, Warwick Mayne-Wilson Heritage Landscape Consultants, Sydney 2013

Lisa Murray, Sydney cemeteries: a field guide, NewSouth, Sydney, 2016

- Juliet Ramsay, Parks, Gardens and Special Trees a classification and assessment method for the Register of the National Estate, Australian Heritage Commission Technical Publication Series no. 2, Australian Government Publishing Service, 1991 (has a 20 page type classification listing & dating hundreds of parks, country-wide)
- Elizabeth Stewart, Places in the Park: a sixty year history of the Royal Australian Institute of Parks and Recreation, 1926-1986, The Institute, Canberra 1991
- **Georgina Whitehead,** *Civilising the City a history of Melbourne's Public Gardens*, Robert W. Strugnell, 1997 (repr. 2015)

# 6.0 Australian horticultural societies

- Ann Cripps, Gardeners, *Plant Collectors, Friends Hobart Town and Beyond*, Fullers Publishing, Hobart, 2022
- **Rob Linn,** Sharing the Good Earth: Royal Agricultural and Horticultural Society of South Australia Incorporated 175 years of influence and vision, Historical Consultants P/L, 2014
- Ralph & Roslyn Parsons (eds), From our Gardens: the Royal Horticultural Society of NSW (Inc.): Celebrating 150 years 1862-2012, RHS of NSW, 2012
- **Gwenda Sheridan**, *The Launceston Horticultural Society: a history*, Launceston, Horticultural Society, Launceston, Tas, 2013
- **Michael Taffe**, *Growing a Garden City: Ballarat Horticultural Society* 1859-2009, BHS Publishing/Ballarat Heritage Services, Ballarat, Vic, 2014

# 7.0 Australian botanical illustration, flora and publishing

- **Brian Adams,** The Flowering of the Pacific: being an account of Joseph Banks' travels in the South Seas and the story of his Florilegium, William Collins, Sydney, 1986
- **Dick Burns,** *Pathfinders in Tasmanian Botany an honour roll of people connected through naming Tasmanian plants*, The Tasmanian Arboretum Inc., 2012

Hector Charles Cameron, Sir Joseph Banks, Angus & Robertson, 1952 (repr. 1966)

- Wendy Cooper, The botanical art of William T Cooper, National Library of Australia, Canberra, 2021
- **Penelope Curtin & Tansy Curtin**, *Blooms and Brushstrokes Floral History of Australian Art*, Wakefield Press, Mile End, South Australia, 2019
- Ann Elias, Useless beauty: flowers and Australian art, Cambridge Scholars Publishing, Newcastle upon Tyne, UK, 2015
- Alex S. George, A Banksia Album: two hundred years of botanical art, National Library of Australia, Canberra, 2011

Alex S. George, Australian Botanist's Companion, Four Gables Press, 2009

- Mel Gooding, David J. Mabberley & Joe Studholme Joseph Banks' Florilegium: Botanical Treasures from Cook's First Voyage, Thames & Hudson, London, 2019.
- Christina Harrison, The Botanical Adventures of Joseph Banks, Kew Publishing, Richmond UK, 2020
- Helen Hewson, Australia: 300 Years of Botanical Illustration, CSIRO Publishing 2000

**Robert Holden & Jane Brummitt**, *More Than a Fairy Tale: May Gibbs, an artistic life*, Hardie Grant Books, Melbourne, & London, 2016

Grantlee Kieza, Banks, ABC Books, Sydney, 2020

- Carolyn Landon, Banksia lady: Celia Rosser, botanical artist, Monash University Publishing, Melbourne, 2015
- **David J Mabberley,** Botanical Revelation European encounters with Australian plants before Darwin – The Peter Crossing Collection, New South Publishing, 2019
- David J Mabberley & David T Moore with Jacek Wajer, The Robert Brown Handbook, a guide to the life and work of Robert Brown (1773-1858, Scottish botanist), Koeltz Botanical Books, Germany, 2022
- **J.H. Maiden,** Sir Joseph Banks the Father of Australia, William Applegate Gullick Government Printer, 1909
- **Christobel Mattingley**, *A Brilliant Touch: Adam Forster's wildflower paintings*, National Library of Australia, Canberra, 2010
- Gordon Morrison (ed) Capturing Flora: 300 years of Australian botanical art, Art Gallery of Ballarat, Ballarat, Vic, 2012
- **Christine Morton-Evans**, *Ellis Rowan: a life in pictures*, National Library of Australia, Canberra, 2020
- **Toby Musgrave**, *The Multifarious Mr. Banks: From Botany Bay to Kew, The Natural Historian Who Shaped the World*, Yale University Press, United States, 2020

Richard Neville, Mr JW Lewin; painter & naturalist, NewSouth Publishing, Sydney, 2012

**Penny Olsen**, *Collecting Ladies: Ferdinand von Mueller and women botanical artists*, NLA Publishing, Canberra, 2013

- Brad Potts, Gintaras Kantvilas & Jean Jarman (eds), Janet Somerville's Botanical History of *Tasmania*, 1642-1820, University of Tasmania and Tasmanian Museum and Gallery, Hobart, 2006
- Ellis Rowan, The Flower Hunter the adventures, in Northern Australia and New Zealand of flower painter Ellis Rowan, Angus and Robertson, 1898
- H.J. Samuel, Wild Flower Hunter the Story of Ellis Rowan, Harper Collins, London, 1991
- **P.S. Short, (ed),** *History of Systematic botany in Australasia: Proceedings of a symposium held at the University of Melbourne*, Australian Systematic Botany Society Inc., 1990
- H. Vellacott, (ed), Some Recollections of a Happy Life: Marianne North in Australia and New Zealand, Edward Arnold, Melbourne, 1986
- Peter Watts, An Exquisite Eye: The Australian Flora and Fauna Drawings 1801-1820 of Ferdinand Bauer, Historic Houses Trust of NSW, Sydney, 1997

Louise Wilson, Margaret Flockton: a fragrant memory, Wakefield Press, Mile End, SA, 2016

# 8.0 Plant hunters, explorers and plant transportation

- Brian Adams, The Flowering of the Pacific being an account of Joseph Banks' travels in the South Seas and the story of his Florilegium, William Collins / British Museum (National Museum)
- **Barry, Bernice,** A Lady's Pen: The botanical letters of Georgiana Molloy, Redgate Consultants, Witchcliffe, 2023
- **S. Curry, B.R. Maslin & J.A. Maslin,** *Allan Cunningham Australian Collecting Localities,* Flora of Australia Supplementary Series no. 13, Australian Biological Resources Study, Commonwealth of Australia, 2002

David Kay Ferguson, Robert Fortune - plant hunter, Anhui University Press, 2017

- Alex S. George, *Australian Botanist's Companion*, Four Gables Press, 2009 (has some 600 pages listing plant collectors and botanists visiting and living in Australia over time)
- Alex S. George & David T. Moore (eds), Peter Good Kew's gardener with Matthew Flinders on HMS Investigator, 1801-1803, Four Gables Press, 2022
- **Francois Gordon**, *Will Purdom Agitator, plant-hunter, forester*, Royal Botanic Gardens, Edinburgh, 2020
- D.N. Jeans (ed), Australian Historical Landscapes, George, Allen and Unwin, 1984
- Luke Keogh, *The Wardian Case: How a simple box moved plants and changed the world*, Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew Publishing, Richmond, 2020

Jane Kilpatrick, Gifts from the Gardens of China, Frances Lincoln, London, 2007

- A.E. & T.A. Orchard, Allan Cunningham letters of a Botanist / Explorer 1791-1839, A.E. and T.A. Orchard, 2015
- **Sue Shephard**, *Seeds of Fortune a gardening dynasty*, Bloomsbury, London, 2003 (re the Veitch family of nurserymen, UK)
- **P.S. Short, (ed),** *History of Systematic botany in Australasia: Proceedings of a symposium held at the University of Melbourne*, Australian Systematic Botany Society Inc., 1990
- Alistair Watt, Robert Fortune a plant hunter in the Orient, Kew Publishing, Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, UK, 2017
- Alistair Watt, Purdom and Farrer plant hunters on the eaves of China, Alistair Watt author published, 2019

Joan Webb, George Caley – Nineteenth Century Naturalist, Surrey Beatty & Sons, 1995

# 9.0 Overseas designers and gardens significantly influencing Australian garden history

Stephen Anderton, Lives of the great gardeners, Thames & Hudson, London, 2016

Richard Bisgrove, The Gardens of Gertrude Jekyll, Francis Lincoln, London, 1992

- Jane Brown, The Omnipotent Magician: Lancelot 'Capability' Brown 1716-1783, Chatto & Windus, London, 2011
- Monty Don, *Paradise gardens: the world's most beautiful Islamic gardens*, John Murray Press, London, 2018

Monty Don, American gardens, Prestel, Munich, 2020

**Penelope Hobhouse & Ambra Edwards**, *The Story of Gardening: A cultural history of famous gardens from around the world*, Pavilion Books, London, 2020 (original by Brecourt Academic, 2004)

Linda Jane Holden, Garden secrets of Bunny Mellon, Gibbs M Smith, Layton USA, 2020

Jonathan Kavalier & Thaisa Way, Beatrix Farrand's Plant Book for Dumbarton Oaks, Dumbarton Oaks Research Library & Collection, Washington DC, USA, 2022

J.C. (John Claudius) Loudon, Encyclopaedia of Gardening (1822)

J.C. Loudon, The Suburban Garden and Villa Companion (1838)

Jane Loudon, Gardening for Ladies (1840)

Jane Loudon, Ladies' Companion to the Flower Garden (1841)

J,C. Loudon & Jane Loudon (ed.), Villa Gardener (1850)

Laura Mayer, Humphry Repton, Shire Publications, Oxford, 2014

Adam Nicolson, Sissinghurst - An Unfinished History: the quest to restore a working farm at Vita Sackville-West's legendary garden, Viking, London, 2008

Piet Oudolf & Rick Darke, Gardens of the High Line, Timber Press, Portland, USA, 2017

Russell Page, The Education of a Gardener, William Collins Sons & Co, London, 1995

John Phibbs, Capability Brown – Designing the English Landscape, Rizzoli, 2016

John Phibbs, Place-making – the art of Capability Brown, Historic England, 2017

Tim Richardson, Sissinghurst: the dream garden, Frances Lincoln, London, 2020

- Miriam Rothschild, Kate Garton & Lionel de Rothschild, *The Rothschild Gardens*, Hodder & Stoughton Australia, Rydalmere, 1996
- Vita Sackville-West & Sarah Raven, Vita Sackville West's Sissinghurst: the creation of a garden, Virago London, 2014

Anne Scott-James, Sissinghurst – the making of a garden, Michael Joseph, London, 1975

Joanna Silver, The bold dry garden: lessons from the Ruth Bancroft Garden, Timber Press, Portland, USA, 2016

Peter Valder, Gardens in China, Timber Press, Portland, USA, 2002

Christopher Woods, Gardenlust: A Botanical Tour of the World's Best New Gardens, Timber Press, Portland, USA, 2018

## 10.0 Cultural landscapes

Geoffrey Dutton, The Squatters, Currey O'Neil Ross, 1985

- Bill Gammage, The Biggest Estate on Earth: how Aborigines made Australia, Allen & Unwin, Crows Nest, NSW, 2011
- **J Haddow,** Avenues of Honour A Victorian Cultural Landscape, Landscape Australia, Landscape Publications, Mont Albert, 1988.

Tim Hall & Trisha Dixon, 'Banjo' Paterson's High Country, Cornstalk Publishing, 1992

Tom Griffiths, Forests of Ash - an Environmental History, Cambridge University Press, 2001

- **D.N. Jeans & Peter Spearitt,** *The Open Air Museum the cultural landscape of New South Wales*, George Allen and Unwin,1980
- Bruce Munday, Those Wild Rabbits how they shaped Australia, Wakefield Press, 2017

Michael Pearson & Jane Lennon, Pastoral Australia: Fortunes, Failures and Hard Yakka, a historical overview, 1788-1967, Commonwealth of Australia, 2010

Jeannie Sim & Jan Seto, Inventory of historic cultural landscapes in Queensland, AGHS, 1996.

- Victor Steffensen, Fire Country how Indigenous Fire Management could help save Australia, Hardie Grant Travel, 2020
- **Peter Sutton & Keryn Walshe**, *Farmers or Hunter-Gatherers? The Dark Emu Debate*, Melbourne University Press, 2021
- Ken Taylor & Jane Lennon (eds), *Managing Cultural Landscapes*, Routledge, London and New York, 2012

Peter Taylor, Pastoral Properties of Australia, George Allen and Unwin, 1984

Asa Wahlquist, Thirsty Country – Options for Australia, Jacana Books (Allen and Unwin), 2008

- **Don Watson,** *The Bush, Travels in the Heart of Australia*, Hamish Hamilton (Penguin Books), 2014
- Mary E. White, The Greening of Gondwana the 400 million year story of Australia's Plants, Kangaroo Press, 1998

Mary E. White, Running Down – Water in a Changing Land, Kangaroo Press, 2000

The AGHS website hosts information about the particular cultural landscape of trees forming commemorative Avenues of Honour. There is also a video about Canberra's planned city design – A Gardener's City: Canberra's Garden Heritage, 2006.

# **11.0 Websites and sources for historic plant use in gardens**

**Colin Mills**, *Hortus Camdenensis, an illustrated database of plants grown in the garden of and sold by the nursery at Camden Park, c1820-70, 2010, https://www.hortuscamden.com* 

- *Curtis' Botanical Magazine*, digitised in the Biodiversity Heritage Library, at https://www.biodiversitylibrary.org/bibliography/706
- **NSW Museums of History** (formerly Sydney Living Museums, Historic Houses Trust of NSW) *Colonial Plants Database*, a searchable database on plant introduction/availability dates for sale in NSW (and from NSW nurseries to other colonies and overseas) http://collection.hht.net.au/firsthht/searchColonialPlants.jsp (NB: under tabs: Research / Colonial Plants Database)
- **The Royal Botanic Gardens** Sydney *Garden Explorer* (allows searching for specimens by botanical name), https://rbgsydney.gardenexplorer.org/
- **The Royal Botanic Gardens Victoria** Living Collection Census (allows searching for specimens by botanical name, and gives dates of planting(s), at <a href="https://data.rbg.vic.gov.au/rbgcensus/census/">https://data.rbg.vic.gov.au/rbgcensus/census/</a>

The ACT, Monaro Riverina Branch of the AGHS has also funded digitisation of early garden and gardening manuals held at the National Library of Australia (NLA) for public access. Some digitised items with sources of early plant use in gardens are itemised below. The full list of early Australian gardening books digitised in the project is available here <a href="https://catalogue.nla.gov.au/people/20113/lists/11468">https://catalogue.nla.gov.au/people/20113/lists/11468</a>

Shepherd & Co, Special list of new plants, new fruit trees and garden seeds, Darling Nursery, Sydney, 1873. Digitised in the NLA, Np 635.02949441 S548

- J. & W. Gelding. Journal, General catalogue of garden and farm seeds, plants, florists' flowers, fruit trees, bulbs &c.: containing also carefully compiled cultural directory and a year's work in the..., 1873, 1875, 1876. Digitised in the NLA, N 635.016 GEN
- Heyne, E. B. (Ernst Bernhard), The fruit, flower and vegetable garden, 1871. Digitised in the NLA, N 635 HEY
- William Adamson, The Australian gardener: an epitome of horticulture for the Colony of Victoria, 1863. Digitised in the NLA, PETHpam 86

W. Henty, On improvements in cottage husbandry, 1849. Digitised in the NLA, FRM F 5067

**Rusticus**, How to settle in Victoria, or, instructions on the purchase and occupation of the land; with observations on gardening and farming; the growth of the vine, and other fruit..., 1855, SR 939